1991

Martin L. Hocking and Judith C. Hocking v. Merlyn Tingey Roberts : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction over "orders, judgments, and decrees of any court of record over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction." Section 78-2-2(3)(j) Utah Code Ann. 1953, as amended.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

(1) Does mutual acquiescence in a boundary require mutual belief in a line as boundary by adjoining landowners during the required period of acquiescence? Wright v. Clissold, 521 P.2d 1224 (Utah 1974); Wood v. Myrup, 681 P.2d 1255 (Utah 1984); Halladay v. Cluff, 685 P.2d 500 (Utah 1984), dissenting opinion; Low v. Bonacci, 788 P.2d 512 (Utah 1990).

(2) Since the defendant's grantor had a survey that shows he had been using property beyond and adjoining his boundary, and then conveyed only his legal, metes and bounds description, can the defendant claim the adjoining property via boundary by acquiescence based on her grantor's occupancy? Brown v. Peterson Development Co., 622 P.2d 1175 (Utah 1980).

(3) Since the District Court's findings were either disputed by competent evidence or were not supported by required evidence, was summary judgment for the defendant appropriate? Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c) and 56(e).

(4) Since opposing counsel has inflated the cost of this suit by violating Rule 3.3(a)(1) of Rules of Professional

Conduct from the Utah Code of Judicial Administration, is opposing counsel obligated to pay the plaintiffs' suit costs?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case.

This appeal is from a final judgment of the Second District Court in Davis County, Farmington, Utah, Judge Douglas L. Cornaby, presiding. This case involves a property boundary dispute. Judge Cornaby granted the disputed property to the defendant under the doctrine of boundary by acquiescence. The defendant's motion for summary judgment was granted. The plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment was denied.

2. Statement of the Facts.

(1) Plaintiffs ask for quiet title to a 12' x 120' strip of property included in their 1969 warranty deed and their 1969 survey. This property is currently being used by the defendant, who claims she owns this property via the doctrine of boundary by acquiescence.

(2) Exhibit A is a summary of exhibits in the pleadings. Exhibit A shows the date relationships between the fence the defendant claims is the boundary and the surveys of the deed boundaries. Also, it summarizes the warranty deed history on each piece of property. (surveys, R. 185, 194; warranty deeds on plaintiffs' property, R. 485, 77-80; warranty deeds on

defendant's property, R. 85-93) Plaintiffs have highlighted the disputed property on the surveys.

(3) The District Court found the fence the defendant claims s the boundary was installed in 1953; but competent evidence shows the fence was not installed until at least 1956, thirteen years before the plaintiffs purchased their property and received their survey. (Fact 5, R. 722-723)

(4) The District Court found the fence was installed pursuant to a 1953 survey, but the survey was never produced as evidence and plaintiffs dispute the existence of such survey. (Fact 5, R. 723-727)

(5) In 1978 the defendant purchased property adjoining the plaintiffs' lot. When the defendant purchased her property, she received a survey from her grantor that shows the fence is about 12 feet south of her south boundary. The defendant's 1978 survey agrees with the plaintiffs' 1969 survey as to the location of the common deed boundary with reference to the fence. (surveys, R. 185, 194)

(6) The disputed property has not been conveyed to the defendant or to any of her predecessors in title. Therefore, the property taxes have not been assessed to or paid by the defendant or any of her predecessors in title. (Fact 12, R. 49, 312)

(7) The disputed property has been conveyed by warranty deed to the plaintiffs and to all of their predecessors in interest. Therefore, the property taxes have been assessed to

and paid by the plaintiffs and their predecessors in interest.
(Fact 11, R. 49, 312)

(8) All of the warranty deeds on the defendant's property describe the south boundary as being 100 feet south of the front of her lot. None reference the fence as the boundary. (warranty deeds on defendant's property, R. 85-93)

(9) There is no overlap in the metes and bounds descriptions of the defendant's and the plaintiffs' properties.
(Fact 9, R. 49, 312)

(10) There are no structures on the disputed property, nor are there any structures on the defendant's property that need the disputed property to meet city zoning requirements. (Facts 28 and 29, R. 55, 313-314)

(11) Plaintiffs sent a letter dated October 10, 1989, telling the defendant the plaintiffs intended to install a fence along the common deed boundary. (letter, R. 113) On September 27, 1990, plaintiffs filed suit to quiet title to the disputed property. (Fact 24, R. 613)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the current case prima facie evidence shows there was not mutual acquiescence in the fence as the common deed boundary for the required period of time. Given this fact, plaintiffs cite a case in point and other authority to show the District Court's judgment of boundary by acquiescence should be overturned.

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE DEFENDANT THE DISPUTED PROPERTY UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF BOUNDARY BY ACQUIESCENCE BECAUSE THERE IS PRIMA FACIE EVIDENCE THERE WAS NOT MUTUAL ACQUIESCENCE IN THE FENCE AS THE DEED BOUNDARY FOR THE REQUIRED PERIOD OF TIME.

The plaintiffs' 1969 survey put them on notice the fence is not on the deed boundary from the time they purchased their property, 13 years after the fence was installed. At the time the defendant purchased her property in 1978, she received a survey that shows the fence is not on the deed boundary. The Court has ruled that such knowledge precludes mutual acquiescence in an artificial boundary. In Wood v. Myrup, 681 P.2d 1255 (Utah 1984), a case in point, plaintiffs Critchley believed the fence was on the boundary until plaintiffs Critchley had a survey made in 1959, eleven years after they purchased their property. Plaintiffs Critchley did not inform defendants Myrup of Critchley's survey nor did plaintiffs Wood and Critchley use their properties on the other side of the fence; there was no dispute until plaintiffs Wood and Critchley filed suit for quiet title and trespassing in September 1980, twenty-one years after the Critchleys' 1959 survey. In overturning the lower courts ruling of boundary by acquiescence, the Supreme Court ruled:

Contrary to the rule originally administered by the courts of equity, our statutory action to quiet title does not require that a plaintiff allege and prove his possession of the disputed property. *Id.* at 1257.

... while there was "acquiescence in the [fence] line as the boundary," id., for 11 years, that acquiescence cannot be inferred beyond 1959, when plaintiffs Critchley received a survey and knew that their legal line was some feet south of the fence. The requirement of acquiescence "for a long period of years," id., is not satisfied by 11 years. As we have noted, "[O]nly under unusual circumstances would a lesser period [than 20 years] be deemed sufficient." Id. at 1258

In Wright v. Clissold, 521 P.2d 1224 (Utah 1974), the Court established that mutual belief that a fence is on the deed boundary is a requirement for mutual acquiescence in a fence as the boundary. The Court discounted the need for affirmative action to negate mutual acquiescence. In its decision the Court said:

In the instant case, defendants [acquiescence claimants] urge that the failure of plaintiffs and their predecessors in interest to take affirmative action concerning the property north of the fence constitutes mutual acquiescence in the fence as the boundary, regardless of any actual knowledge by the parties that the fence was not the boundary. Id. at 1226-1227

In refuting this contention, the Court cites Fuoco v. Williams:

In order to establish a boundary by acquiescence; it is not necessary that the acquiescence should be manifested by a conventional agreement, but recognition and acquiescence must be mutual, and both parties must have knowledge of the existence of a line as boundary line. Wright v. Clissold 521 P.2d at 1227 (Utah 1974) and cited from Fuoco v. Williams 18 Utah 2d at 286, 421 P.2d at 947 (1966)

In the current case plaintiffs have known the fence is not on the deed boundary from the time they purchased their property in 1969 and received their survey, thirteen (13) years after the fence was installed.

In the current case the metes and bounds descriptions in both parties' warranty deeds provide adequate information to allow both owners to locate the common deed boundary on the ground. The boundary in question is described as being 100 feet from the front of the defendant's lot--a flat, open area. This description is given in all of the warranty deeds on both pieces of property; none of the warranty deeds reference the fence as the boundary. In addition to this information being in the warranty deeds, the defendant's father and previous occupant of her property, testified repeatedly that he knew he purchased only 100 feet of north-south dimension. (Tingey deposition, R. 124, 125, 135) The Utah Supreme Court has ruled that this kind of knowledge prevents mutual acquiescence in an artificial boundary. In Low v. Bonacci, 788 P.2d 512 (Utah 1990), a case that followed Staker v. Ainsworth, 785 P.2d 417 (Utah 1990) the Court denied boundary by acquiescence. In listing factors that showed mutual acquiescence was lacking the Court said:

Bonacci [the acquiescence claimant] was placed on notice of the existing boundary by the prior condemnation action, as well as by the metes and bounds property description contained in the warranty deed from his predecessor in interest which was recorded at Bonacci's request. [emphasis added] Id. at 513.

In the current case the defendant received both a warranty deed and a survey from her predecessor in interest to put her on notice of the deed boundary with reference to the fence.

II. THE DEFENDANT CANNOT USE HER PREDECESSORS' PERIODS OF OWNERSHIP AND OCCUPANCY TO SATISFY THE REQUIRED PERIOD OF MUTUAL ACQUIESCENCE BECAUSE HER PREDECESSORS DID NOT CONVEY THE DISPUTED PROPERTY TO THEIR GRANTEEES EVEN THOUGH THE DEFENDANT'S IMMEDIATE PREDECESSOR IN INTEREST HAD A SURVEY THAT SHOWED HE HAD BEEN USING THE DISPUTED PROPERTY.

When the defendant purchased her property in 1978, the defendant's predecessor in interest ordered, received, and gave to the defendant a survey that shows her predecessor had been using the disputed property. (Fact 19, R. 613) In fact the survey shows that her predecessor in interest knew he was using property in excess of his legal description before he ordered this survey because he had to specifically request the second description on the survey, "Description of Property to the Use Lines." (survey, R. 194) Having this information, the defendant's predecessor in interest did not convey the disputed property to the defendant. In other words, this is prima facie evidence he did not regard the fence line as the boundary, but instead relied on the metes and bounds description in his legal description.

In Brown v. Peterson Development Co., 622 P.2d 1175 (Utah 1980), the acquiescence claimants had notice of the true lot boundaries before buying and closing their lot purchases. If they had not obtained quitclaim deeds for the disputed property adjacent to the property in their legal descriptions, their claim

to the disputed property would not have been upheld. The Court ruled:

The fact that the plaintiff lot buyers had notice of the actual lot boundaries before buying and closing their lot purchases would have been fatal to their action if they had not received a conveyance of the legal title to the disputed strip of land by means of quitclaim deeds from the former owners of it. The later quitclaim deeds passed the legal title to them. Id. at 1178.

In the current case the defendant received a survey to put her on notice of her actual lot boundaries. She did not obtain a conveyance of the disputed property.

III. SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR THE DEFENDANT WAS INAPPROPRIATE BECAUSE THE LOWER COURT'S FINDINGS WERE DISPUTED WITH COMPETENT EVIDENCE OR WERE NOT SUPPORTED BY REQUIRED EVIDENCE. ALSO, THE CONCLUSION OF LAW IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE UNDISPUTED FINDING.

The undisputed finding that is inconsistent with the conclusion of law is that the plaintiffs have a 1969 survey that agrees with the defendant's 1978 survey in showing the fence is about twelve feet from the common deed boundary. Knowledge the fence is not on the deed boundary prevents acquiescence in the fence as the boundary.

The remaining findings were disputed with conflicting testimony as well as with documents and with presumptive evidence. See Exhibit B, "Ruling on the Motions for Summary Judgment," which contains the lower court's findings and

conclusions. See Exhibit C, "Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend Findings 9-25-91", to which references to the record have been added to substantiate the conflicting evidence. These references to the record do not appear in the copy that was filed in the District Court and attached to the Docketing Statement. Summary judgment is not appropriate if there is a genuine issue as to a material fact. "The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. Procedures 56(c).

The alleged "1953 survey" of Milton C. Green's is not admissible evidence because it has never been produced even though the plaintiffs made a formal request for its production. "Sworn or certified copies of all papers or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith." Utah R. Civ. Procedures 56(e). However, even if the defendant can produce this "survey", Green's testimony in his deposition for the defense indicates this "survey" would not support mutual acquiescence in the fence as the boundary. Milton C. Green testified that this alleged "survey" shows the fence is not on the "survey" line. (Green's deposition, R. 773-775)

IV. OPPOSING COUNSEL AND/OR THE DEFENDANT SHOULD BE MADE TO PAY THE PLAINTIFFS' COSTS OF THIS SUIT. OPPOSING COUNSEL

HAS INFLATED THE COST OF THIS SUIT BY VIOLATING RULE 3.3(a)(1) OF RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT FROM THE UTAH CODE OF JUDICIAL ADMINISTRATION, CHAPTER 13. THE DEFENDANT HAS POSSESSED A SURVEY THAT SHOWS THE FENCE IS NOT ON THE COMMON DEED BOUNDARY SINCE 1978, BUT SHE HAS TAKEN NO ACTION TO ASSUME THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF OWNERSHIP OF THE DISPUTED PROPERTY OR TO RELINQUISH CONTROL OVER IT.

The defendant's pleadings are replete with examples of opposing counsel's violation of Professional Rule of Conduct 3.3(a)(1). These violations are noted throughout the plaintiffs' pleadings. "A lawyer shall not knowingly make a false statement of material fact or law to a tribunal." Utah Code of Judicial Administration, Chapter 13, Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 3.3(a)(1).

The defendant claims she owns the plaintiffs' property, but she has consistently refused to take action to assume the responsibilities of ownership. The defendant failed to file suit for boundary by acquiescence or to settle the boundary discrepancy in 1978 at the time she purchased her property and received her survey that reveals the fence is not on the deed boundary. Also, prior to this suit defendant failed to file suit in 1989 after her attorney telephoned such intent to an attorney the plaintiffs had consulted about this matter. (letter, R. 203) Again, prior to this suit defendant failed to file suit in 1989 after the plaintiffs and two other adjacent landowners rejected her proposed boundary agreement making the fence lines the

boundaries. (boundary agreements, R. 115-117) Also in 1989, prior to this suit the defendant threatened to sue the plaintiffs for "serious damages" if they installed a fence along the common deed boundary. (letter, R. 204B)

CONCLUSION

In the current case plaintiffs have cited prima facie evidence to show there was not mutual acquiescence in the fence as the common deed boundary. They have cited a case in point and other authority to show that boundary by acquiescence is inappropriate in light of the evidence.

THEREFORE, plaintiffs ask the Utah Supreme Court:

(1) to reverse the lower court's ruling of boundary by acquiescence;

(2) to grant plaintiffs quiet title to the disputed property;

(3) to award the plaintiffs compensation for defendant's use of their property from February 21, 1978, the date of the defendant's survey;

(4) to award plaintiffs their legal costs; and

(5) to initiate disciplinary action against attorneys for the respondent for violating rules of professional conduct.