1991

Martin L. Hocking and Judith C. Hocking v. Merlyn Tingey Roberts : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Hockings' contention that the warranty deeds, the 1969 survey received by the Hockings, and the 1978 survey ordered by Tingey constitutes prima facie evidence that there was no mutual acquiescence in the long-standing chain-link fence as a boundary reflects a misunderstanding of the boundary by acquiescence doctrine. There is no authority whatsoever for the Hockings' position

that notice of a "true boundary line" in the fixing of a fence line is prima facie evidence of a lack of mutual acquiescence.

Moreover, the Utah Supreme Court in Staker v. Ainsworth, 785 P.2d 417 (Utah 1990) completely eradicated uncertainty as a factor from the boundary by acquiescence doctrine. Whether a boundary was uncertain or in doubt at the time that it was acquiesced in, or whether the boundary was known and certain, is irrelevant to the doctrine of boundary by acquiescence. Uncertainty is now only a factor in the boundary by agreement doctrine. Staker's rejection of the confusing intermingling of these doctrines accords with well reasoned authority that refute the notion that certainty of the proper line precludes mutual acquiescence in boundary by acquiescence cases. Moreover, a presumption, uncontroverted by a showing of certainty, that any dispute over the boundary line has been reconciled promotes the boundary by acquiescence doctrine's policy to preclude litigious boundary disagreements that bear ill will towards neighbors and clog the court dockets.

Even if uncertainty were still a factor in the boundary by acquiescence doctrine, the Hockings fail to designate specific genuine issues of material fact to controvert the presumption of acquiescence in this case. The undisputed material facts in this case establish as a matter of law that there was mutual acquiescence in the fence line for a sufficient period of time.

Finally, equitable principles support summary judgment for de la Melena. For at least thirty-six years, the owners of the Hocking and de la Melena lots have relied on the fence as the true and proper boundary. It would be grossly unfair at this point and time to consider the fence as anything but a fixed boundary line.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN DETERMINING THAT THERE WAS MUTUAL ACQUIESCENCE IN THE LONG-STANDING FENCE LINE AS A BOUNDARY.

The Hockings erroneously argue that the warranty deeds, the 1969 survey received by the Hockings, and the 1978 survey ordered by Tingey constitute "prima facie evidence" that there was no mutual acquiescence in the long-standing fence line as a boundary. The Hockings are flatly wrong. The warranty deeds and surveys in this case do not constitute "prima facie" evidence of a lack of mutual acquiescence. Nor does such evidence controvert the trial court's finding that as a matter of law there was mutual acquiescence in the fence as a boundary.

In Staker v. Ainsworth, 785 P.2d 417 (Utah 1990), the Supreme Court affirmed a trial court's summary judgment employing the doctrine of boundary by acquiescence to establish fence lines as property boundary lines, rather than those established by record title. The court reaffirmed that the doctrine by acquiescence includes only four factors:

1. Occupation up to a visible line marked by monuments, fences, or buildings;
2. Mutual acquiescence in the line as a boundary;
3. For a long period of time; and
4. By adjoining landowners.

Id. at 420.

The trial court in this case held that based on the evidence proffered by the parties it was uncontroverted that these four factors were met by de la Melena. On appeal, the Hockings concede

that each factor was met by de la Melena, except for mutual acquiescence.

A. Because a Sufficient Period of Time had Already Run for Acquiescence, Evidence of the 1978 Survey is Academic.

In arguments I-III, the Hockings contend that mutual acquiescence ceased in 1978, upon the taking of a survey ordered by William Tingey. The Hockings are mistaken. Acquiescence continued from the erection of the chain-link fence in 1953 until 1989, when the Hockings first notified de la Melena of a boundary dispute. However, because twenty-five years from the erection of the chain-link fence in 1953 had passed before Tingey ordered the 1978 survey, it is unnecessary for this Court to determine whether mutual acquiescence ceased upon the taking of the 1978 survey. Staker held that twenty-years was a sufficient period of time to establish the third element in boundary by acquiescence, although a lesser prescriptive period would be appropriate under unusual circumstances. Id. at 420. Even if the fence were installed in 1956, as the Hockings allege in their statement of facts, twenty-two years would have passed before the 1978 survey, which is still a sufficient time to establish boundary by acquiescence. Whatever significance the Hockings attach to the 1978 survey and their allegation the fence was erected in 1956, is irrelevant to the application of the boundary by acquiescence doctrine in this case.

B. Staker v. Ainsworth Completely Eradicated Factor of Uncertainty From Boundary by Acquiescence Doctrine.

The Hockings' remaining argument that the warranty deeds and their 1969 survey constitute prima facie evidence of a lack of

mutual acquiescence misconstrues the law. There is no authority that certainty or knowledge in a boundary line constitutes prima facie evidence of a lack of mutual acquiescence. Moreover, it is implicit in Staker v. Ainsworth that uncertainty is no longer a factor in the boundary by acquiescence test.

1. Staker Recognized Clear Distinction Between Doctrines of Boundary by Acquiescence and Boundary by Agreement.

The Hockings' tortured "prima facie" theory is premised on a confusing intermingling of the doctrine of boundary by acquiescence with that of boundary by agreement.³ Holding that there is a clear distinction between these two theories, Staker overturned Halladay v. Cluff, 685 P.2d 500 (Utah 1984), rev'd 785 P.2d 417 (1990), which required that the claimant prove objective uncertainty as to the actual location of the property line.

Halladay's requirement of objective uncertainty was the result of the confusion between the separate doctrines of boundary by agreement and acquiescence. Originally, uncertainty or dispute was required only for boundary by agreement. Halladay, 685 P.2d at 503. In 1928, however, the supreme court in Tripp v. Bagley, 784 Utah 57, 276 P.2d 912 (1928), cited by Halladay as support for its imposition of the objective uncertainty requirement, began to refer to uncertainty or dispute as an essential ingredient for boundary

³Staker noted that boundary by agreement is premised on a contractual theory and requires: "(1) an agreement, (2) between adjoining landowners, (3) settling a boundary that was uncertain or in dispute, and (4) executed by actual location of a boundary line." Id. at 423 n.4 (quoting Backman, The Law of Practical Location of Boundaries and the Need for an Adverse Possession Remedy, 1986 B.Y.U.L.Rev. 957, 965-82 (emphasis added)).

by acquiescence.⁴ Tripp held the doctrine of boundary by acquiescence to be not applicable because the evidence affirmatively demonstrated that when the boundary fence was erected, the parties knew that it was not on the true line, and further, they could not have believed it to be on the true line since the true line was straight north and south along a section line, and the boundary fence had sharp angle turns in it. Id. As Staker noted, however, Tripp involved a parol agreement and therefore should not have been decided as a boundary by acquiescence case. Id. at 422-23.⁵

Staker did not simply obviate the burden of proving objective uncertainty on the party relying on the boundary by acquiescence doctrine. The court repudiated the out-dated and sterile notion, initially developed in Tripp, and now latched onto by the Hockings, that the absence of uncertainty in fixing the boundary proves there was no acquiescence between the parties. Criticizing the language in Tripp that long served as the basis for recognizing uncertainty as an element of boundary by acquiescence cases, Staker stated:

Cases which followed Tripp seized upon this dicta, which we now deem to be unfortunate in its impact, and intermittently began to refer to a showing of uncertainty or dispute in a boundary by acquiescence context.

⁴In Wood v. Myrup, 681 P.2d 1255, 1258 (Utah 1984), which the Hockings cite as controlling authority in this appeal, the element of uncertainty appears to have served as a basis for the Supreme Court's decision. Wood was authored by Justice Oaks just prior to his opinion in Halladay v. Cluff, and in light of Staker, is no longer controlling authority that certainty in a deed line controverts as a matter of law the presumption of boundary by acquiescence.

⁵Tripp was cited in 12 AmJur.2d Boundaries, § 85 (1964) as an exception to the rule that "[t]he cases approving the doctrine of acquiescence generally do not differentiate between cases where the boundary was uncertain or in doubt at the time that it was acquiesced in and in cases where it was known and certain."

Id. at 422.⁶ Staker makes clear that uncertainty is a factor in boundary by agreement and not of boundary by acquiescence. Uncertainty and dispute are important in boundary by agreement cases to overcome a statute of frauds bar to an oral agreement. Id. at 423. These elements, however, have no relevance whatsoever to a boundary by acquiescence analysis.

Staker's rejection of the intermingling of the doctrine of boundary by acquiescence with the boundary by agreement doctrine accords with courts and commentators who refute the notion that certainty of the original line precludes mutual acquiescence in boundary by acquiescence cases.

Other courts, however, recognizing the doctrine of boundary by agreement as distinct from that of boundary from acquiescence declare that from acquiescence to the statutory period arises as a direct and conclusive inference, not of an agreement, but that the boundary acquiesced in is actually the true boundary, not to be controverted by evidence and unaffected by the existence or non-existence of a dispute or uncertainty concerning the original line.

7 A.L.R. 4th, Fence as Factor in Fixing a Boundary Line, ¶ 2[a] (1981) (emphasis added).

⁶The following language in Tripp was specifically criticized by Staker:

[O]ne of the requisites necessary to the establishment of a boundary line other than the true boundary line between adjoining landowners by oral agreement or acquiescence . . . is that the location of the true boundary sought to be thus established is or has been uncertain or in dispute.

It thus becomes of controlling importance to determine whether two adjacent landowners may establish a boundary line between their lands by oral agreement or by acquiescence for a long period of time, when there is no uncertainty as to the location of the true boundary line. . . .

Staker, 785 P.2d at 422 (quoting Tripp, 74 Utah at 67 & 69, 276 P. at 916 & 917) (citations omitted in first quote) (emphasis included in Staker).

Nor does the fact that the Hockings were privy to a survey in 1969 that revealed a discrepancy between the fence line and the deed line controvert the mutual acquiescence in this case. Staker also expressly discarded the notion rooted in Tripp and articulated in Halladay that a claimant is precluded from showing mutual acquiescence if the claimant knew or had reason to know the true location of the boundary during the period of acquiescence. Staker repudiated the second sentence, as well as the first sentence in the following language in Halladay:

Unless it is shown that during the period of acquiescence there was objectively measurable circumstance in record title or in the reasonably survey information (or other technique by which record title information was located on the grounds) that would have prevented a landowner, as a practical matter, from being reasonably certain about the true location of the boundary. By the same token, a claimant cannot assert boundary by acquiescence if he or his predecessors in title had reason to know the true location of the boundary during the period of acquiescence.

Staker, 785 P.2d 421 (quoting Halladay, 685 P.2d at 505) (emphasis added).⁷ Staker noted that these two sentences mean "there must

⁷Justice Howe in Halladay v. Cluff concurred with the second sentence quoted above on the limited grounds that both parties had access to a survey which indicated that they did own to the fence to which they claimed. Id. at 513. Although he suggested that perhaps a reasonable standard could be used in cases "where the discrepancy was apparent and the acquiescence was blindly indulged in," he warned that "we must not expect too much from the rule since being familiar with the legal description of one's property and locating that description on the land are two entirely different things. That is why surveys are made." Id.

Even if Justice Howe's suggested approach had been followed by Staker, the Hockings still lose on summary judgment. Both parties did not have access to a survey indicating that they did not own to the fence. The Tingeyes were not privy to a survey until 1978, well after the 20 year prescribed period for mutual acquiescence. Moreover, there is no issue of fact that the acquiescence was blindly indulged in. The Tingeyes had no reason to know that the fence was not on a true line. As Justice Howe noted:

The rule would serve well in instances like Tripp v. Bagley, supra, where an old fence line had several angle turns in it

have been a particular form of dispute," a concept that Staker disparages as inconsistent with the boundary by acquiescence doctrine. Id. The fact that the Hockings are not even claimants in this case, compounded with their failure to notify de la Melena and her predecessors in interest of a "boundary problem" the Hockings allegedly knew about in 1969, further compels a rejection of the Hockings' prima facie argument. Adoption of the Hocking position would undermine Staker's well-reasoned analysis and, as developed later in this brief, would be patently unfair.

2. Facts In Staker v. Ainsworth Are Compelling That Notice To Landowners Of A "True Boundary Line" Does Not As A Matter Of Law Controvert Acquiescence In A Fence Line As A Boundary.

Staker concluded there was mutual acquiescence in the fence line as a boundary, despite the undisputed facts before the court that the landowners had notice through surveys that the fence line was not in accordance with the deed line. A survey taken in 1953 or 1956 showed that the true boundary line between the Teeples, predecessors in interest to the Maxfield (non-claimant/appellant) property, and Ainsworth (claimant/appellee) was approximately 80 feet south of the existing fence line. In 1956, notwithstanding this discrepancy, Teeples reconstructed the fence on the same

whereas the true line was straight north and south along the section line; and Madsen v. Clegg, supra, where the boundary fence ran on a straight line, whereas the deed lines of both parties provide angle turns in them. In both cases the landowner had reason to note that the fence was not on a true line.

Id. at 513-14. In this case, not only did Tingey not have access to a survey, the fence line and the true line run parallel and are not interrupted by abrupt turns. Simply put, there is no noticeable discrepancy between the location of the fence line and Tingey's 1947 warranty deed. See Universal Inv. Corp. v. Kingsbury, 26 Utah 2d 35, 484 P.2d 173 (1971). Even if this Court were to follow Justice Howe's recommendation, the Hockings would still fail to prevail against the trial court's summary judgment.

boundary line as the previous fence shortly after the original fence was destroyed in a storm. (See Brief for Appellee Ainsworth at 3, 11, and 19 & Brief for Appellee Staker at 17, attached to record at R. 700-703, 705.) In 1972, Maxfield had a survey taken in connection with his purchase of his property. The survey again revealed the difference of approximately 75 feet between the legal description and the fence line. (See Brief for Appellant Maxfield at 18 & Brief for Appellee Staker at 4, attached to record at R. 708, 710.) In 1979, the Stakers had a survey performed which indicated a discrepancy of about 80 feet between the fence lines and the record title boundary lines on both sides of the property. Staker, 785 P.2d at 419. Finally, in 1981, Ainsworth had his property surveyed and also found a similar discrepancy. Id.

The surveys taken in 1953 or 1956, 1972, 1979 and 1981 serving notice to the landowners that the fence line was not the "true boundary line" were immaterial to the question in Staker of whether there was mutual acquiescence. Despite this abundance of previous survey information available to the landowners, Staker expressly noted that acquiescence ceased only in 1985 when the first claim regarding the dispute was filed. The court held as a matter of law that the longstanding fence line was the boundary between the adjoining landowners. Boundary by acquiescence was established under facts demonstrating that the adjoining landowners acted in a manner consistent with the belief that the fence line was the boundary, irrespective of the various landowners' surveys giving the parties notice that the fence line was not on the deed lines. Id. at 420-21.

3. Presumption Of Acquiescence Uncontroverted By Certainty Of Deed Line Promotes Policy Underlying Boundary By Acquiescence Doctrine.

Finally, a presumption, uncontroverted by a showing of certainty, that any dispute over the boundary line has been reconciled accords with the boundary by acquiescence doctrine's policy to preclude litigious boundary disagreements that bear ill will towards neighbors and clog the court dockets. Staker states:

The doctrine of boundary by acquiescence derives from realization, ancient in our law, that peace and good order of society is [sic] best served by leaving at rest possible disputes over long established boundaries. Its essence is that where there has been any type of a recognizable physical boundary, which has been accepted as such for a long period of time, it should be presumed that any dispute or disagreement over the boundary has been reconciled in some manner.

Id. at 423 (quoting Baum v. Defa, 525 P.2d 725, 726 (Utah 1974)).

Eliminating the factor of "uncertainty" from the boundary by acquiescence doctrine simplifies the application of the doctrine and is fair. Landowners may rely on recognizable boundary lines in existence for twenty plus years without fear that an undisclosed survey taken by an adjoining landowner will controvert the otherwise mutual acquiescence between the parties. Twenty years is long enough for a party adverse to acquiescence to note their objection to a fence line as the boundary, especially when the parties have expended reliable time and resources in developing their property in reliance on the recognized boundary line.

**II. EVEN IF UNCERTAINTY WERE STILL A FACTOR IN
BOUNDARY BY ACQUIESCENCE ANALYSIS, HOCKINGS FAIL
TO DESIGNATE SPECIFIC GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL
FACT TO CONTROVERT PRESUMPTION OF ACQUIESCENCE.**

As Staker noted, a small line of cases following Tripp, including Wright v. Clissold, 521 P.2d 1224 (Utah 1974), cited to by the Hockings, unfortunately referred to uncertainty in a boundary by acquiescence context. Id. at 422. Wright stated that lack of uncertainty or dispute at the time the fence was erected could be shown as a defense by the party resisting boundary by acquiescence. See also Universal Inv. Corp. v. Kingsbury, 26 Utah 2d 35, 484 P.2d 173 (1971).⁸ These cases held that the burden of proof is upon the person asserting the defense. Once the four elements of boundary by acquiescence are established, the Court is required to presume the existence of a binding agreement unless the party who assails it proves by competent evidence that there was actually no agreement between the adjoining landowners or there could not have been a proper agreement. Wright, 521 P.2d at 1226.

⁸ The Hockings reliance in their brief on both Wright and Fuoco v. Williams, 18 Utah 2d 282, 421 P.2d 944 (1966) is misplaced. Both decisions were grounded on the affirmative defense that the boundary line was set for a purpose other than setting a boundary. Wright noted that the fence was erected not to locate a boundary which was uncertain, but simply to contain cattle and thus the parties could not acquiescence in the fence as a boundary. Id. at 1227. The language in Fuoco cited by the Hockings reaffirms that this principle. The court held that an irrigation ditch, which was located in an area overgrown with weeds, and which had to be periodically reestablished by plowing did not have the visibility and persistency of placement to constitute a boundary. Id. at 947.

Neither Wright nor Fuoco are applicable to this appeal. There is no material factual dispute that the chain-link fence in this case establishes a clear and visible boundary line. The fence was not constructed to keep out livestock, but to serve as a boundary between the Hocking and de la Melena lots. The real issue the Hockings raise is not whether the fence constitutes a clear and viable boundary between residential lots, but whether the parties acquiesced in that boundary.

One of the four mentioned defenses included "the absence of a dispute or uncertainty in fixing the boundary." Id.⁹

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